FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/14/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/13/2023 4:34 PM No. 102375-8 COA No. 83589-1-I

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EDWARD LEROY CARTE, JR.,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FOR KING COUNTY

PETITIION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610

Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD GRANTED
1. This Court should grant review in order to rule that the manifest constitutional error standard applies as opposed to the flagrant and ill- intentioned where the State's argument is directed at the defendant's exercise of a constitutional right
2. The Court should grant review and determine that the trial court's rulings violated Mr. Carte's right to present a defense
F. CONCLUSION18

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. amend. XIV13
U.S. Cont. amend VI13
WASHINGTON CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Article I, section 22
FEDERAL CASES
California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984)
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973)13
<i>Holmes v. South Carolina</i> , 547 U.S. 319, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006)13
United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998)14
WASHINGTON CASES
<i>State v. Arndt</i> , 194 Wn.2d 784, 453 P.3d 696 (2019)14
<i>State v. Burke</i> , 163 Wn.2d 204, 181 P.3d 1 (2008)11
<i>State v. Emery</i> , 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)9
<i>State v. Espey</i> , 184 Wn. App. 360, 336 P.3d 1178 (2014)
<i>State v. Gauthier</i> , 174 Wn.App. 257, 298 P.3d 126 (2013)10, 11

<i>State v. Gunderson</i> , 181 Wn.2d 916, 337 P.2d 1090 (2014)
<i>State v. Martin</i> , 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011)8
<i>State v. Wallin</i> , 166 Wn. App. 364, 269 P.3d 1072 (2012)
RULES
RAP 13.41
RAP 18.17
RAP 2.5

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Edward Carte asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b), petitioner seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Edward Leroy Carte, Jr.*, No. 83589-1-I (August 21, 2023). A copy of the decision is in the Appendix.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. The prosecution violates an accused person's constitutional rights by urging the jury to draw an adverse inference from the exercise of those rights. By arguing the accused's presence at the trial enables him to tailor his testimony, the prosecution burdens the rights to appear and defend and to confront witnesses. Here, the Court of Appeals ruled the prosecution violated these rights by suggesting that Mr. Carte tailored his testimony based solely on his presence throughout the trial. Is an issue arising under the United States and Washington Constitutions presented where the appellate court agreed Mr. Carte's rights were violated during the State's closing argument but refuses to reverse finding Mr. Carte waived the issue?

2. The state and federal constitutions guarantee an accused person's right to present relevant evidence in his defense. The trial court violates this right by excluding evidence through erroneous application of the hearsay rule. Here, the trial court prevented Mr. Carte from recounting the complaining witness's outof-court statements as hearsay, though none were offered for the truth of any factual assertion. Is an issue arising under the United States and Washington Constitutions presented where these rulings violated Mr. Carte's right to present a defense?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE1</u>

Mr. Carte and Morgan Cooper-McWade began seeing each other in July 2020. RP 1755. He would visit her at her house two to three times each week, and often stayed so late that he missed the curfew at his recovery house. RP 1760–61. When he told her he worried he would lose his housing if he missed his curfew again, Ms. Cooper-McWade invited him to live with her and her two children. RP 1762–63.

Police arrested Mr. Carte in December 2020. The prosecution charged two counts of second-degree assault by strangulation and one count of harassment based on Ms. Cooper-McWade's description of events on

 $^{^1\,\}mathrm{A}$ more complete statement of the facts can be found in pages 4-15 of the Brief of Appellant.

October 8 and November 30. RP 2046; CP 38–39. It also alleged two counts of fourth-degree assault—one based on the alleged spitting incident on November 17, and the other based on an alleged assault against C.W. sometime "between August 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020." RP 1923; CP 39–40.

Before the trial, the prosecution moved to admit Ms. Cooper-McWade's statements to Deputy Damerow on November 30 as excited utterances. RP 38; Supp. CP _ (sub #49 at 12–14). The prosecution represented Deputy Damerow would testify Ms. Cooper-McWade "was afraid and crying" when he interviewed her. RP 41. Based on this offer of proof, the trial court granted the motion. RP 48.

Contrary to the prosecution's offer of proof, Deputy Damerow testified Ms. Cooper-McWade was "mostly calm" when he found her. RP 1015. Defense counsel raised a renewed hearsay objection, which the trial court overruled. RP 1015–18.

During Mr. Carte's testimony, the trial court ruled on objections as though every out of court statement was inadmissible hearsay regardless of the purpose for which he offered it. For example, when Mr. Carte described an occasion where Ms. Cooper-McWade "threw the bedroom door open" and demanded to know who he "was talking to" on the phone, the court sustained a hearsay objection. RP 1773. Likewise, the court excluded as hearsay Mr. Carte's testimony that Ms. Cooper-McWade "asked [him] not to call the police" after she kicked him. RP 1986.

The trial court also excluded Mr. Carte's testimony that he heard Ms. Cooper-McWade tell her child, C.W., "Call the police and tell them Bo is hitting me." RP 1978. It issued this ruling even though defense

 $\mathbf{5}$

counsel explained the command did not "go to the truth

of the matter asserted." RP 1978.

During its rebuttal argument, the prosecution

commented on Mr. Carte's right to be present and

confront the witnesses against him:

They give you the defendant's side of the story, the side of the story that he gave to you after he had the benefit of having heard all of the evidence in this case and hearing how everyone else testified in conforming his testimony to fit for certain facts, but not others.

RP 2119.

The jury convicted Mr. Carte of harassment and two counts of second-degree assault. CP 346–48. It found him not guilty of the fourth-degree assault premised on the alleged spitting incident. CP 349. It could not reach a verdict on the alleged fourth-degree assault against C.W. RP 2138–39. •n appeal, the Court of Appeals agreed the prosecutor committed misconduct in tailoring closing argument untethered to Mr. Carte's prior statements or testimony. The Court refused to reverse on this ground finding Mr. Carte waived the argument by failing to object and the argument was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned. Decision at 10-13. Further, the Court ruled the failure to admit several statements by Ms. Cooper-McWade was not error as they were hearsay statements who suppression did not violate Mr. Carte's right to present a defense. Decision at 14-18.

E. <u>ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD</u> <u>GRANTED</u>

1. This Court should grant review in order to rule that the manifest constitutional error standard applies as opposed to the flagrant and ill-intentioned where the State's argument is directed at the defendant's exercise of a constitutional right.

The prosecutor's comment on rebuttal that Mr. Carte "had the benefit of having heard all the evidence" and was able to "conform[] his testimony" was an improper comment on Mr. Carte's rights under article I, section 22. Moreover, this was a "generic tailoring" argument based only on Mr. Carte's exercise of his rights, not a "specific tailoring" argument based on inferences from the evidence. *Id.* at 31–32; *State v. Martin*, 171 Wn.2d 521, 536 & n.8, 252 P.3d 872 (2011); *State v. Wallin*, 166 Wn. App. 364, 374, 269 P.3d 1072 (2012). The Court of Appeals agreed the prosecutor committed misconduct in making a tailoring argument during closing argument untethered to Carte's prior statements or testimony. Decision at 6. But, the Court ruled that Mr. Carte failed to object or show the argument was flagrant and ill intentioned, thus waiving the issue. *Id.* Contrary to the Court's ruling, the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" standard does not apply to a prosecutor's improper comment on the exercise of a constitutional right.

The Court relied on the Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Emery*; 174 Wn.2d 741, 757, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Decision at 7. Yet, contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion, the Supreme Court distinguished between cases involving direct comments on the exercise of a right from arguments that merely "touch upon a defendant's constitutional rights." *Emery*, 174

9

Wn.2d at 763. The Supreme Court found the improper arguments in that case—misstatements of the burden of proof—fell in the latter category. *Id.* The Court therefore applied the waiver standard for misconduct that does not directly penalize a person for exercising their constitutional rights. *Id.* at 763–64.

This Court should grant review and rule the flagrant and ill-intentioned standard does not apply to errors that involve direct comments on the exercise of a constitutional right.

Rather than the "flagrant and ill intentioned" test, this Court should apply the "manifest constitutional error" standard of RAP 2.5(a)(3) to a comment on the exercise of a constitutional right. *State v. Gauthier*, 174 Wn.App. 257, 263, 298 P.3d 126 (2013).

10

As in *Gauthier*, this comment on Mr. Carte's constitutional rights to be present and confront the prosecution's witnesses was a manifest constitutional error. RAP 2.5 (a)(3). Mr. Carte met that standard here.

Mr. Carte's "trial boiled down to whether the jury believed or disbelieved [his] story." *State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 222, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). The prosecution presented no evidence that refutes Mr. Carte's account and corroborates Ms. Cooper-McWade's. Because Mr. Carte's credibility was "the dispositive question," the prosecutor's unconstitutional attack on his credibility was not harmless. *State v. Espey*, 184 Wn. App. 360, 368, 336 P.3d 1178 (2014).

Here, the prosecutor invited the jury to find Mr. Carte guilty because his right be present throughout his trial enabled him to tailor his testimony. RP 2119.

11

The prosecution did not meet its burden of proving the error beyond a reasonable doubt.

The prosecution improperly commented on Mr. Carte's rights under article I, section 22. The prosecution does not show this violation of Mr. Carte's constitutional rights was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

This Court should also grant review to rule that the flagrant and ill-intentioned standard should not apply when the prosecutor tailors its argument untethered to the defendant's statements or testimony. Rather, this Court should rule the manifest constitutional error standard applies instead. This Court should reverse Mr. Carte's convictions. 2. The Court should grant review and determine that the trial court's rulings violated Mr. Carte's right to present a defense.

"Few rights are more fundamental than that of an accused to present witnesses in his own defense." *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). The Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment require that criminal defendants be afforded a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984). This right by a defendant to present a defense is abridged by evidence rules that "infring[e] upon a weighty interest of the accused" and are "arbitrary or disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve." *Holmes v.* South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006), quoting United States v. Scheffer,

523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998).

Appellate courts engage in a two-step process to review the trial court's individual evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion and then consider *de novo* the constitutional question of whether these rulings deprived the defendant of his right to present a defense. *State v. Arndt*, 194 Wn.2d 784, 797-98, 453 P.3d 696 (2019).

Mr. Carte contended the statements of Ms. Cooper-McWade he sought to admit were not hearsay. Secondly, he contended the failure to admit the statements violated his right to present a defense.

Perhaps the prosecution's most important corroborating evidence was young C.W.'s statement to the 911 dispatcher: "My mom's boyfriend is hitting my mom." Ex. 14, 911 Call pt1.mp3 at 0:57–0:59. This remark was the only evidence outside of Ms. Cooper-McWade's testimony that Mr. Carte assaulted her.

Mr. Carte's testimony that Ms. Cooper-McWade told C.W. to "Call the police and tell them Bo is hitting me" would have recontextualized this evidence. Had the jury been allowed to consider this testimony, it is reasonably probable at least one of them would find Ms. Cooper-McWade told C.W. to say this to frame Mr. Carte. Without this testimony, the jury was left to believe C.W. saw Mr. Carte hit Ms. Cooper-McWade and reported what he observed.

Further, Ms. Cooper-McWade told C.W. to lie was not "ambiguous." If Mr. Carte assaulted Ms. Cooper-McWade, she would simply have asked C.W. to "call for help." *Id.* at 47. A reasonable juror could conclude there was no reason to specify what to say to the dispatcher unless she wanted C.W. to report something that was not happening. Such a juror would also be more likely to notice other signs in the 911 call that Ms. Cooper-McWade told C.W. what to say, such as his asking "what?" to someone else in the house and Ms. Cooper-McWade's shouting at him to "come here!"

Finally, Ms. Cooper-McWade's demand to know who Mr. Carte was talking to and request that he not call the police were also important to his defense. Together, these statements would have led a reasonable juror to credit Mr. Carte's defense theory.

Key to Mr. Carte's defense that Ms. Cooper-McWade lied about his assaulting her was motive—as the prosecutor asked, "Why would she lie?" RP 2060. Mr. Carte explained why—Ms. Cooper-McWade was jealous, especially of his friendly relationship with his ex-wife, to the point that she monitored his text messages and lashed out violently. Had the jury been allowed to hear the demands the trial court erroneously excluded, it is at least reasonably probable one juror would have credited Mr. Carte's theory. *State v. Gunderson*, 181 Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.2d 1090 (2014).

The trial court erroneously excluded Ms. Cooper-McWade's non-assertive requests and demands as hearsay. That error denied Mr. Carte his constitutionally protected right to present a defense. This Court should grant review, find the trial court violated Mr. Carte's right to present a defense, and reverse his convictions.

F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Carte respectively asks this Court to reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.

Counsel certifies this petition contains

approximately 2150 words using Microsoft Word word

counter and complies with RAP 18.17.