FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/4/2023 11:57 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUP. CT. NO. 102375-8 COA NO. 83589-1-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EDWARD CARTE, JR.,

Petitioner.

### APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

# ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Treated as Answer to Petition for Review

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

##

## A. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. This Court should grant review and clarify that the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" prosecutorial misconduct standard generally applies to statements made during closing argument that improperly comment upon a defendant's constitutional right.
- 2. The trial court sustained the prosecutor's objection to several out-of-court statements elicited during Carte's testimony. Is review unwarranted when the trial court correctly ruled that these statements were hearsay and the right to present a defense does not extend to inadmissible evidence?

## B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The facts are fully presented in the Brief of Respondent filed with the Court of Appeals.

# C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

RAP 13.4(b) governs this Court's review of Carte's petition. Accordingly, review is appropriate only under the following circumstances:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Carte appears to rely on RAP 13.4(b)(3). Brief of Pet. at 1-3.

1. THIS COURT SHOULD CLARIFY THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR IMPROPER ARGUMENTS THAT COMMENT UPON A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT.

The State does not dispute that the trial prosecutor made an improper "tailoring" argument during summation. Because Carte failed to object below, however, the Court of Appeals had to consider at the outset how this failure to object might affect the analysis.

Both parties and the Court of Appeals relied in part on State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 757, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

Emery suggested that the constitutional harmless error standard may apply to "direct constitutional claims involving prosecutors' improper arguments." <u>Id.</u> at 757. Nonetheless, <u>Emery</u> "declined to adopt the constitutional harmless error standard" in that case, despite the prosecutor making improper arguments that "subtly shift[ed] the burden [of proof] to the defense." <u>Id.</u> at 758-60.

The Court gave three reasons for its decision: (1) it had declined to apply the constitutional harmless error standard in similar cases; (2) the instant case did not involve racial bias; and (3) an attorney's argument is generally less prejudicial than instructional error. <u>Id.</u> at 757-59. This analysis provided only limited guidance to lower courts confronted with variant factual scenarios, specifically, what constitutes a "direct" as opposed to "indirect" claim was never elucidated in <u>Emery</u>, nor in any subsequent decision of this Court.

The Court of Appeals has extrapolated from Emery at least two different two-part tests for improper arguments that

Under <u>Pinson</u> and <u>Teas</u>, courts ask whether the error was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative instruction would have sufficed. 183 Wn. App. at 419; 10 Wn. App. 2d at 122. If not, the error is "waived." <u>Id. Teas</u> rejected any application of the constitutional harmless error standard.<sup>2</sup> 10 Wn. App. 2d at 121-22. <u>Pinson</u> did not address constitutional harmless error at all. 183 Wn. App. at 419-20.

In <u>Espey</u> and <u>Carte</u>, the Court of Appeals first applied the typical "flagrant and ill-intentioned" prosecutorial misconduct standard, asking whether any prejudice could have been cured

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Carte</u>, No. 83589-1 at 12; <u>State v. Teas</u>, 10 Wn. App. 2d 111, 121, 447 P.3d 606 (2019); <u>State v. Espey</u>, 184 Wn. App. 360, 366, 336 P.3d 1178 (2014); <u>State v. Pinson</u>, 183 Wn. App. 411, 416, 333 P.3d 528 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although <u>Teas</u> did not import the constitutional harmless error standard, it observed that a different panel had done so in <u>Espey</u>, 184 Wn. App. at 368-69. Later opinions, including the case at bar, have erroneously read <u>Teas</u> as adopting the two-part test from <u>Espey</u>. <u>See Carte</u>, No. 83589-1 at 12; <u>see State v</u>. <u>Tesfasilasye</u>, No. 81247-5, 2021 WL 3287706 at \*9 (2021 Unpublished) (reversed on other grounds by 200 Wn.2d 345, 518 P.3d 193 (2022)).

by a timely instruction and whether "there was a substantial likelihood the misconduct led to prejudice that affected the jury verdict." Carte, No. 83589-1 at 10; Espey, 184 Wn. App. at 366. If the defendant shows incurable prejudice substantially likely to affect the jury's verdict, the error is preserved, and the court then applies the constitutional harmless error standard to determine if reversal is required. Carte, No. 83589-1 at 11-12; Espey, 184 Wn. App. at 369-70.<sup>3</sup>

The standard applied in <u>Espey</u> and <u>Carte</u> is unnecessarily duplicative. If the error is preserved – i.e., it could not have been cured with a timely instruction and likely *affected the verdict* – it makes little sense to then *also* ask whether it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Espey also briefly noted, without elaborating, that "[a] defendant's failure to object to an improper remark on his constitutional right to silence does not waive the issue on appeal so long as the remark amounts to a manifest error." 184 Wn. App. at 366 (citing RAP 2.5(a)(3)).

Emery and asks for a different standard of review. Brief of Pet. at 9-10. He claims that the prosecutorial misconduct analysis only applies to errors that "touch upon" a constitutional right, whereas direct violations are reviewed under RAP 2.5(a)'s "manifest constitutional error" standard. Brief of Pet. at 10.

But Carte's proposed rule is also problematic. It requires an additional layer of litigation as to whether an error is "direct" or "indirect." The courts will then be confronted with a standard of review that shifts depending on slight variations in a prosecutor's phrasing or how an appellant chooses to frame their argument.

The prosecutorial misconduct standard should generally apply to comments made in closing argument, and this Court should reject the Court of Appeals' addition of a constitutional harmless error analysis. See State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665, 679, 30 P.3d 1245 (2001) (superseded by statute on unrelated grounds by LAWS OF 2002, ch. 107, § 1) ("Some improper

prosecutorial remarks can touch on a constitutional right but still be curable by a proper instruction").

The Court of Appeals has previously identified the problem with adopting Carte's approach:

Manifest error affecting a constitutional right will be reviewed under RAP 2.5(a) despite the lack of objection below. In practice, this rule creates a relatively small category of errors that a trial judge must watch for and guard against even when the parties fail to point them out. An argument of a prosecutor does not readily fall into this category. Trial judges should not feel obligated to intervene sua sponte in every argument that might be characterized as raising a constitutional issue. Such a rule would be difficult in application and disruptive to the coherency of closing arguments. Trial judges have a variety of options available to deal with prosecutorial misconduct in argument. Sometimes it may be appropriate for the court to intervene absent objection, but not always.

<u>State v. Klok</u>, 99 Wn. App. 81, 83-84, 992 P.2d 1039 (2000) (citations omitted).

It is possible that prosecutorial misconduct may merit review under RAP 2.5(a)(3) in some circumstances. However,

this should encompass a limited category of obvious and egregious errors:

This [two-part test] has long been our approach to analyzing prosecutorial misconduct. Warren urges us to apply instead a constitutional harmless error analysis because the misconduct in this case touches on constitutional rights. Perhaps if a prosecutor violated an accused's right of silence by improperly blurting out the accused had exercised his constitutional right, the constitutional harmless error standard would be appropriate...[w]e decline to reach the issue of whether a constitutional error analysis might be appropriate if the prosecutorial misconduct directly violated a constitutional right.

State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26, n.3, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) (internal citations omitted).

Carte had a constitutional right to attend his trial. WASH CONST. art. I, § 22. However, the State did nothing to prevent his attendance, which would have been a direct constitutional violation. Instead, the prosecutor's argument implicitly *commented* upon the right. This was error, but of the sort that

has historically been reviewed under the general prosecutorial misconduct standard. State v. Gouley, 19 Wn. App. 2d 185, 199-200, 494 P.3d 458 (2021). In any event, the intermediate appellate courts would benefit from greater clarity on this issue, and a limited grant of review would therefore be reasonable.

# 2. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE HEARSAY ISSUE.

The trial court sustained several hearsay objections made when Carte attempted to admit the victim's out-of-court statements. The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that the statements at issue were properly rejected as hearsay, and that excluding this evidence did not violate Carte's right to present a defense. Carte, No. 83589-1 at 16.

To the extent Carte claims these statements were not hearsay, he is incorrect for the same reasons discussed in the opinion below and the Brief of Respondent.

Carte further suggests that, even if the statements were hearsay, his constitutional right to present a defense supersedes the rules of evidence. Brief of Pet. at 13. However, this Court

has already held that "the scope of that right [to present a defense] does not extend to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence." State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 362-63, 229 P.3d 669 (2010). Rather, the defendant's trial rights are "subject to established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence." State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

This Court should decline to review the hearsay issue because Carte has failed to identify a significant constitutional issue meriting this Court's attention.

## D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all the foregoing reasons, the State does not object to review of the waiver issue. However, this Court should deny review of Carte's hearsay argument.

This document contains 1650 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 4th day of December, 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

Bv:

GAVRIEL JACOBS, WSBA #46394

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

Office WSBA #91002

### KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

## December 04, 2023 - 11:57 AM

### **Transmittal Information**

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

**Appellate Court Case Number:** 102,375-8

**Appellate Court Case Title:** State of Washington v. Edward Leroy Carte Jr.

### The following documents have been uploaded:

1023758\_Answer\_Reply\_20231204115548SC308523\_4453.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Motion for Discretionary Review

The Original File Name was 102375-8 STATES ANSWER TO PETITIONERS MOTION FOR

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.pdf

## A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

• chris@washapp.org

• kummerowtm@gmail.com

• wapofficemail@washapp.org

### **Comments:**

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Gavriel Gershon Jacobs - Email: gavriel.jacobs@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email: )

#### Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue

Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20231204115548SC308523